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EDITH BROWN CLEMENT, Circuit Judge:

We previoudly issued an opinion that was predicated, in part, on a misrepresentation by the
government. See United States v. Vi, 451 F.3d 362 (5th Cir. 2006). Upon reconsideration, we

withdraw the prior opinion in its entirety and replace it with the following.

The defendant appedls his conviction and sentence for six counts of trafficking in counterfeit
goods, inviolation of 18 U.S.C. § 2320. For the following reasons, we affirm his convictions asto

five counts, vacate his conviction as to the sixth count, vacate his sentence, and remand for
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resentencing.
|. FACTSAND PROCEEDINGS

Zheng Xiao Yi (“Zheng”) owned XY Z Trading Corp. (“XYZ"), a discount retail store in
Houston, Texas. In July 2003, U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (“ICE”) agents at the
arrival port in Norfolk, Virginia, conducted an inspection of a container shipped from China and
intended for XYZ. ICE Agent Stephanie McKinney thought that the stated value of the enclosed
goodsreflected ontheinvoice did not justify the high costs of shipping the container; afull inspection
showed that the container’ s contents did not match the invoice. Agent McKinney suspected that
some of the goods in the container might be counterfeit, so she photographed them and sent the
pictures to the respective trademark owners, Gillette and Underwriters Laboratories (“UL”).* The
trademark ownersindicated that the goods were not made by them, and Agent McKinney seized the
shipment on August 18, 2003. Agent McKinney determined that another shipment from Chinato
XYZ would arrive in afew weeks, and she designated that shipment for interception. This second
shipment, which also was determined to contain counterfeit goods, was seized on September 15,
2003.2

Because of the discovery of the counterfeit goods in the August shipment, ICE Agent
Jacqueline Irwin, posing undercover asthe owner of aparty store, visted XY Z on August 20, 2003.
A salesperson named “Anna’ showed her around the store and answered her questions regarding

severa products, including batteries and extension cords. Annatold Agent Irwin that the batteries

The counterfeit goods were 50-foot extension cords (Count Three); “Dinacell” brand batteries
(Count Two); and “Dinacell” flashlights with batteries (Count Two).

2This shipment contained 4,000 pairs of counterfeit Nike sandals (Count Six).
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“were not as good asthe real ones’ and not to sell them in the party store because she “could get in
trouble.” Annasaid that most of XY Z’s customers sold the batteries in flea markets “ because they
werelessstricter [Sic] over there.” Annatold Agent Irwin that the extension cords were safe to use.
Agent Irwin purchased several of theitems, at acost of sixty-five centsto $1.25 each, and delivered
theitemsto another | CE agent, Steven Lopez. Agent Irwin, again undercover, visited XY Z asecond
time on September 2, 2003, and noticed several of the same items for sale.

Agent L opez applied for and wasgranted asearch warrant, which wasexecuted on November
7,2003. Agent Lopez and other agents seized batteries, extension cords, other UL -labeled products,
toys, and business records identifying Zheng as XY Z's original incorporator and sole shareholder.
Agent Lopez adso discovered two cease-and-desist |etters sent one week before the search from
Gillette and UL to XYZ, addressed to Zheng. The search did not uncover any counterfeit Nike
sandals or any cease-and-desist letter from Nike.

Prior to the search, because the sei zed goods originated in China, Agent L opez had suspected
that illegal Chineseimmigrants may have beenonthepremises. Accordingly, Agent Jerry Liu, anICE
agent fluent in Mandarin Chinese, accompanied the search party. During the execution of the search
warrant, Agent Liu asked Zheng for identification; Zheng had no documentation permitting him to
be in the United States, and a computer check revealed that Zheng had been ordered deported in
1997. Agent Liu immediately placed Zheng in custody. After reading Zheng the proper Miranda
warnings, Agent Liu trandated questionsfrom Agent Lopez to Zheng. Both Agents Lopez and Liu
testified that Zheng admitted that he knew “the stuff that he was importing was fake.” Zheng aso
admitted that he was the owner of XY Z and that he had received the cease-and-desist | etters.

At some point during the search, after seeing Agent Liu walk back inside from a cigarette
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break, Zheng asked Agent Liuif hecould haveacigarette. Agent Liu thentook Zheng outsidewhere
Zheng, according to Agent Liu’ stestimony, offered a$50,000 bribe if Agent Liu would release him.
Agent Liu also testified that Zheng again admitted that some of the goods in his store were “fake or
counterfeit” and that Zheng said he “wouldn’t continue in this business any more” if Agent Liu let
him go.

Subsequently, Zheng was indicted on six counts of trafficking in counterfeit goods, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2320.% During Zheng' strial in July 2004, Agents McKinney, lrwin, Lopez,
and Liu dl testified. Additionally, the government called as witnesses representatives from the
trademark-owning companies, Gillette, Marvel, Nike, and UL. Therepresentativesidentified various
features of the seized goods that, in their view, violated the companies registered trademarks.
Additionaly, the representativestestified asto why preventing counterfeiting was important to their
businesses. Thegovernment also called asawitness| CE Agent Nicole Palestina, animport speciadist,
who testified to the retail value of the actual goods that the counterfeits mimicked. At the close of
the government’ s case, Zheng moved for a judgment of acquittal, which the district court denied.
The defense then rested without presenting any evidence.

The jury convicted Zheng on al sx counts of the indictment. The jury also made
supplemental findings that the infringed goods had a retail value of $304,812 and that the offenses
related to the goods in Counts Four and Five, bearing the UL symbol, involved a “conscious or

recklessrisk of bodily injury.” In February 2005, after the Supreme Court’ sdecisionin United States

Count Oneincluded batteriesand flashlightsthat infringed Gillette trademarks. Count Two included
additional batteriesthat infringed Gillettetrademarks. Count Threeincluded Spider-Man phonesand
action figuresthat infringed Marvel trademarks. Count Four included extension cordsthat infringed
UL trademarks. Count Five included extension cords, hair clippers, and powerstrips that infringed
UL trademarks. Count Six included sandals that infringed Nike trademarks.
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v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220 (2005), thedistrict court adopted the recommendations of the Pre-Sentence
Report (“PSR”) and sentenced Zheng to 63 monthsimprisonment, thetop of the applicable guideline
range.
. DISCUSSION

Zheng appeal shisconvictions, arguing that the evidence wasinsufficient to support thejury’s
verdict and that the district court erroneously admitted various testimony. He also appedls his
sentence, arguing that the district court erred in its interpretation and application of United States
Sentencing Guideline (“U.S.S.G.”) § 2B5.3.
A. Sufficiency of the Evidence
D Standard of Review

Since Zheng timely moved for ajudgment of acquittal, he preserved his sufficiency argument
for appeal. See United Sates v. Gonzales, 436 F.3d 560, 571 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 126 S. Ct.
2363 (2006). Therefore, so long asarational jury could have found the elements proven beyond a
reasonable doubt, this court must uphold the jury’s verdict. 1d.; United States v. Adair, 436 F.3d
520, 525 (5th Cir. 2006). This court views “the evidence in the light most favorable to the
government with all reasonableinferencesand credibility choicesmadein support of thejury verdict.”
Gonzales, 436 F.3d at 571. “The intent necessary to support a conviction can be demonstrated by
direct or circumstantia evidence that alows an inference of an unlawful intent, and not every
hypothesis of innocence need be excluded.” United Statesv. Aggarwal, 17 F.3d 737, 740 (5th Cir.
1994).
2 Analysis

Zheng was convicted on six counts of violating 18 U.S.C. § 2320(a), which punishes
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“[w]hoever intentionally traffics or attempts to traffic in goods or services and knowingly uses a
counterfeit mark on or in connection with such goods or services....” To proveaviolation of the
statute, the government must establish: “(1) the defendant trafficked or attempted to traffic in goods
or services, (2) such trafficking, or the attempt to traffic, was intentional; (3) the defendant used a
counterfeit mark on or in connection with such goods or services; and (4) the defendant knew that
the mark so used was counterfeit.” United Statesv. Hanafy, 302 F.3d 485, 487 (5th Cir. 2002). See
also United States v. Qultan, 115 F.3d 321, 325 (5th Cir. 1997).

On appeal, Zheng arguesthat the government did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt the
fourth element, Zheng's knowledge of the counterfeit nature of the mark.* Zheng presented the
following evidence at trial through cross-examination, which he argues proves he had no knowledge
of any counterfeiting: The vast mgjority of merchandise in the store was legitimate; the counterfeit
itemswere offered for resale at XY Z in the same condition Zheng had purchased them; al counterfeit
markings had been placed on the goods prior to arrival at XY Z; some or dl of the real versions of
the products were manufactured in China, where the counterfeit products originated; some of the
items had indications of legitimacy, such as safety warnings, the cease-and-desist lettersfrom Gillette
and UL were written in English, alanguage that Zheng neither read nor wrote; he did not receive
cease-and-desist letters from Marvel or Nike; the undercover visits and search of XYZ did not
uncover any items smilar to the Nike sandas; and he was never given the option to inspect the

second container seized by ICE, which contained the counterfeit Nike sandals.

“In passing, Zheng also arguesthat the evidence wasinsufficient to prove that the batteriesin Counts
One and Two were counterfeit. His main argument is that the battery names were not “Duracell.”
Hisargument has no merit: Gillette trademarked the use of a copper-top and black-body battery, the
trademark wasintroduced at tria, and arational jury could have found that the seized goodsborethe
trademarked characteristics.
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Insupport of thejury’ sverdict, the government pointsto the evidence tending to show Zheng
knew he was involved in the sale of counterfeit merchandise: Zheng declined to physically inspect
the first of the seized containers;” prior to the execution of the search warrant, Gillette and UL sent
Zheng cease-and-desist |etters, which he admitted receiving; Zheng's employee, Anna, told Agent
Irwin that the batteries were not asgood asthe real ones and that she might get in trouble if she sold
theminaretail store; Zheng admitted that he knew “the stuff that hewasimporting wasfake;” Zheng
admitted that he was the sole owner of XY Z; and Zheng attempted to bribe Agent Liu and stated,
“If you let me go, | wouldn’t continue in this businessany more.” Though the government does not
make the argument, the obvioudly poor quality of some of the goodstendsto show that Zheng knew
those goods were counterfeit.

With respect to the first five counts of conviction—involving the Gillette, UL, and Marvel
products—Zheng’ s admissions and bribery attempt are particularly probative, and ajury could rely
on them aone in determining his intent to traffic in certain counterfeit goods. The noticeably poor
quality of most of the goods, purchased in a store owned by Zheng, provides further support. As
well, with respect to the cease-and-desist letters, a jury could infer that, snce Zheng admitted
receiving the letters, he also was able to determine their content. The jury, acting rationally, relied
upon the specific and general evidence detailed above to convict Zheng on five counts. Therefore,
the evidence is sufficient to support the jury’s verdict with respect to those counts. See Gonzales,

436 F.3d at 571.

*The transcript clarifiestheimportance of Zheng’ somission. Rather than inspecting the container to
seeif the imported goods matched what XY Z ordered, Zheng offered to pay the duties of the entire
shipment, even though | CE had determined the August 18, 2003, shipment contained more than was
ontheoriginal invoice. Zheng could have chosen to abandon the shipment and not pay the duty fees.
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However, no rational jury could conclude beyond areasonable doubt that Zheng was guilty
of thesixth count of conviction, attempting to traffic or trafficking in counterfeit Nike sandals. Zheng
was a wholesale importer, with a warehouse and a store. The quantum of counterfeit items
represented only a smdl percentage of his overall products. During the earlier undercover visits by
Agent Irwin, no Nike sandalsor smilar itemswerefound. When agents executed the search warrant,
the counterfeit goodsin the store were batteries, flashlights, extension cords, hair clippers, and toys,
the store contained no counterfeit Nike sandals, which would have been at least an indication that
Zheng knew what he was importing in the second container. It isundeniable that Zheng knew some
of the items in his store were counterfeit; he admitted as much to government agents during the
search, and he tried to bribe hisway to freedom. However, given that Zheng's admission and bribe
attempt came at the time his store was searched, the inferences of guilt that arise from his statements
only reasonably pertain to the goods in his store in November 2003—not to the counterfeit Nike
sandals seized at the customs depot on September 15, 2003.

Theonly evidencethejury heard regarding whether Zheng might have known of the contents
of the second container isthat aninvoice, found at XY Z during the search, identified the contents as
rubber dippers with a product identification number of “2039-4.” There is no record evidence
indicating what that number description means.® The government simply failed to find out or put
forth such evidence.

With such, at best, weak and attenuated circumstantial evidence, no rational jury could have

found beyond areasonable doubt that Zheng attempted to traffic or trafficked inthe counterfeit Nike

®At trial, Zheng's counsel asked Agent McKinney, “So, we don’t know whether or not he actually
knew therewere Nike dippersor what you clamto be counterfeit Nike dippersin that box, do you?’
Agent McKinney responded, “1 don’t know if he knew that the description said it or not.”
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sandals. See United Satesv. Alvarez, 451 F.3d 320, 337 (5th Cir. 2006) (“ The Government attempts
to cobble together inferences from the testimony presented in support of the verdict . . . . Whilea
rational jury might make the chain of inferences[in support of theverdict] . . . areasonablejury could
not conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the elements of the crime have been proven.”).
Accordingly, we vacate this count of conviction.”
B. Rule 404(b) Objections
D Standard of Review

This court reviews for abuse of discretion a district court’s decision to admit or exclude
evidence. United Statesv. Cantu, 167 F.3d 198, 203 (5th Cir. 1999). Inacrimina case, Rule 404(b)
evidence must “be strictly relevant to the particular offense charged.” United Statesv. Hernandez-
Guevara, 162 F.3d 863, 869 (5th Cir. 1998) (internal quotation omitted). Even if the district court
abused its discretion, this court will not overturn a conviction unless the defendant was prejudiced

by the erroneous admission of evidence. United Statesv. Coleman, 78 F.3d 154, 156 (5th Cir. 1996).

’As previously mentioned, this opinion is our second. On the first go-around, the government
misrepresented a fact materia to our decison to uphold Zheng's conviction for trafficking in the
counterfeit Nike sandals. that Zheng was given and declined the opportunity to inspect the second
shipment containing the Nike sandals. Though the government now concedes its misrepresentation,
it nonetheless tries to salvage the conviction. In its response to the petition for rehearing, the
government argues that Zheng should have abandoned the second container, and apparently all
subsequent imports, because the inspection of the first container “should have alerted a prudent
businessman to the potential for discrepancy between what had been ordered and what had been
shipped.”

Such an argument plainly is meritless and solidifies our view that the evidence does not
support Zheng' sconvictiononthiscount. That | CE inspected one internationally-shipped container
does not indicate a widespread problem for Zheng, whom the government portrays as a
knowledgeabl e businessman whose wholesale business is based upon importing goods from abroad.
Wearequitecertainthat other “ prudent businessm[e]n,” perhapseven large corporationsthat import
thousands of containers of goods, would differ with the government’ s argument that they should
immediately abandon all incoming shipments if ICE even inspects (not even seizes) but one.
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(2) Ruled404(b)

Rule 404(b) prohibits evidence of other actsto prove the defendant’ s conformity therewith.
See FED. R. EVID. 404(b). However, the rule permits other-acts evidence “for other purposes, such
asproof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake
or accident ....” Id. Admisson of Rule 404(b) evidence must follow atwo-step test incorporating
Rules401 and 403: Theextrinsic evidence (1) must berelevant to anissue other than the defendant’ s
character and (2) must have probative vaue that is not substantially outweighed by its prgjudicid
effect onthejury. See United Satesv. Beechum, 582 F.2d 898, 911 (5th Cir. 1978) (en banc); FeD.
R. EvID. 401, 403. See also United Sates v. Redd, 355 F.3d 866, 879 (5th Cir. 2003).

Rule 404(b), however, only applies to extrinsic evidence and does not prohibit intrinsic
evidence. Thiscircuit has defined intrinsic evidence:

Evidence of acts other than conduct related to the offense is intrinsic when the

evidence of the other act and the evidence of the crime charged are inextricably

intertwined or both acts are part of asingle crimina episode or the other acts were

necessary preliminaries to the crime charged.
United Satesv. Freeman, 434 F.3d 369, 374 (5th Cir. 2005) (internal quotations omitted). Such
evidenceis“admissbleto complete the story of the crime by proving theimmediate context of events
intimeand place.” Coleman, 78 F.3d a 156. Intrinsic evidenceis permissible “so that the jury may
evaluate dl the circumstances under which the defendant acted.” United Satesv. Royal, 972 F.2d
643, 647 (5th Cir. 1992) (internal quotation omitted).

(©)) Immigration Status

The government raised Zheng's immigration status several times at tria.® Most

8For example, in its opening statement, the government indicated that Agent Liu would testify that
he arrested Zheng during the execution of the search warrant after determining that Zheng was
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conspicuoudly, in its rebuttal closing argument, the government mentioned that Zheng, upon
previoudly going through removal proceedings, “was given the privilege of voluntarily leaving the
United States. Instead of doing so, he absconded. He took the easy way out. Heran.” Zheng's
counsel objected, and the district court sustained the objection and instructed the jury “to disregard
the comment. It’'s not evidence in any way in this case.”

Zheng contendsthat introduction of hisstatusasanillegal dienviolated Rule 404(b) because
it wasirrelevant and enormoudly prejudicial. Zheng'sargument regarding the alleged prejudice rests
on his belief that “[t]here is strong public sentiment against illega immigration in this country,”
especidly in light of the September 11th attacks. Zheng cites no authority that would apply this
generalized contention to his own case.

The government reasonably argues that the immigration arrest and the counterfeit charges
arosefroma*“single crimina episode.”® Freeman, 434 F.3d at 374 (internal quotation omitted). The
government similarly contends that the jury was entitled to know the full context of Zheng's arrest,
including why the arresting officer in this counterfeiting case was animmigration enforcement agent.
Prior to trial, in denying Zheng' sin limine motion, the district court agreed to adlow the prosecutor
to mention Zheng's immigration status as the reason he was arrested. The district court did so

because, at the time of the arrest, no warrant had been issued for Zheng in connection with the

illegaly in the United States. The examinations of Agents Lopez and Liu substantiated the
government’ s opening statement.

°The government separately argues that Zheng's immigration violation is the functional equivalent
of committing fraud on immigration authorities, which then is smilar to Zheng committing fraud on
the manufacturers of theinfringed items. The government’ s attempt to connect theintent toillegally
remaininthe United States after the expiration of avisawith theintent to traffic in counterfeit goods
is particularly weak. The government does not, and indeed cannot, cite caselaw in support of its
theory that the fraudulent intents are identical, or even related.
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counterfeiting charges, and he was initidly taken into custody on the immigration violation. Under
thisview, Zheng'simmigration status would be intrinsic evidence not subject to Rule 404(b).

Even applying Rule 404(b), though, the evidentiary admission does not require reversal.
While Zheng's status as an illegd aien does not enjoy strong relevancy, any prejudice from the
evidence was insubstantial. Some *hallmarks of highly prejudicia evidence” include “violent acts,”
acts “greater in magnitude” than the charged crimes, and acts that “ occupy more of the jury’stime
than the evidence of the charged offenses.” Hernandez-Guevara, 162 F.3d at 872 (citing United
Sates v. Fortenberry, 860 F.2d 628, 632 (5th Cir. 1988)). During voir dire, the district court
extensively warned jurors against potentia prejudice or bias. During the government’s closing
argument, the district court sustained Zheng's objection when the government mentioned Zheng's
immigration status and gave a limiting instruction to the jury, ordering it to disregard the
government’scomment. We presume that the district court’ sinstructions limited, if not eliminated,
any pregjudicial effect. See Adair, 436 F.3d at 527 (“[T]he district court mitigated any prejudicia
effect by giving the jury alimiting ingtruction.”). Ultimately, it cannot be said that introduction of
Zheng' simmigration status isthe type of information that is “of aheinous nature, likely to incite the
jury to an irrational decision.” United States v. McMahon, 592 F.2d 871, 876 (5th Cir. 1979).
Accordingly, even if the district court abused its discretion, which we hold it did not, the lack of
identifiable prejudice defeats Zheng' s argument in favor of reversing his convictions.
4 Bribery Allegation

At trid, Agent Liu testified that Zheng offered a $50,000 bribeif Agent Liuwould alow him
to escape. Zheng contends that the district court’s decison to permit Agent Liu to testify to the

uncharged attempted bribery violates FED. R. EvID. 404(b). We conclude it does not.
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In United States v. Posey, citing Rule 404(b), this court held that evidence of a post-arrest
attempted bribe of anarresting officer ispermissibleto establish guilt of theunderlying crime charged.
611 F.2d 1389, 1391 (5th Cir. 1980) (“ Thetrial court admitted testimony that on hisway to jail [the
defendant] offered a county sheriff $100,000 to let him out of the car. This attempt to bribe a
government officid in order to escape shortly after arrest was clearly admissible as evidence of
guilt.”). Seealso United Statesv. Paccione, 949 F.2d 1183, 1199 (2d Cir. 1991) (“ These statements
by [the defendant], which the jury was plainly free to interpret as offering bribes, were relevant to
show a consciousness of guilt . . . and thereby to cast doubt on his lack-of-intent defense.”); United
Satesv. Mendez-Ortiz, 810 F.2d 76, 79 (6th Cir. 1986) (collecting cases and citing Posey). Here,
Zheng' smainargument, on appeal asat trid, isthat he did not know the goodswere counterfeit. His
bribery attempt isrelevant and highly probative of intent, knowledge, and absence of mistake. Since
the bribery attempt was properly admitted under Rule 404(b), the district court did not abuse its
discretion in failing to exclude it.

C. Hear say Objections
D Standard of Review

As previoudly discussed, a district court’s evidentiary decisions are reviewed for abuse of
discretion. Cantu, 167 F.3d at 203. Such decisions include admission of out-of-court statements
under Rule 801(d)(2)(D). United States v. Sudeen, 434 F.3d 384, 390 (5th Cir. 2005). Evenif the
reviewing court holds that the district court abused its discretion, the decision is reviewed for
harmlesserror. United Satesv. Ragsdale, 426 F.3d 765, 774—75 (5th Cir. 2005); United States v.
Summers, 598 F.2d 450, 459 (5th Cir. 1979) (employing harmlesserror analysisinrefusingto reverse

a conviction even though the district court erred under Rule 801(d)(2)(D)).
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2 Anna’s Statements

At trial, Agent Irwin testified that “Anna,” an XYZ employee, made severa statements
tending to show that Annaknew the goods at issue were not of regular merchantable quality. Zheng
objected, arguing that the statements were testimonia hearsay inadmissible under Crawford v.
Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). The government argued in favor of admissibility under Rule 801.
The district court, relying on Rule 801(d)(2)(D),* overruled the objection “on the basis that the
statement is not hearsay because . . . the statement is one that this party, who is an agent of your
defendant, is permitted to make and permitted to make within the scope of her employment.”

Assuming that Rule 801(d)(2)(D) survived Crawford,* the district court did not abuse its
discretionin admitting Agent Irwin’ stestimony regarding Anna sstatements. Anna s statementsfall
squarely within Rule 801(d)(2)(D) and are admissible non-hearsay. Assuming, however, that
Crawford-type error occurred, we must determine whether any constitutional error resulting from
admitting Anna s statement was harmless.

To determine whether the [ Confrontation Clause] error was harmless, “we consider

the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution’s case, whether the

testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or

contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-

examination otherwise permitted, and of course, the overall strength of the
prosecution’s case.”

Rule 801(d)(2)(D) states:
A statement isnot hearsay if . . . [t]he statement is offered against aparty and is. . .
a statement by the party’ s agent or servant concerning a matter within the scope of
the agency or employment, made during the existence of the relationship. ... The
contents of the statement shall be considered but are not alone sufficient to establish
the declarant’s . . . agency or employment relationship and scope thereof. . . .

2Without scrutinizing the implications of Crawford, at |east one post-Crawford case in this circuit
hasupheld adistrict court’ sadmission of statementsunder Rule801(d)(2)(D). See, e.g., Sudeen, 434
F.3d at 390-91.
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United Satesv. Edwards, 303 F.3d 606, 623 (5th Cir. 2002) (quoting Hafdahl v. Johnson, 251 F.3d
528, 53940 (5th Cir. 2001)). Anna’'s statements spoke directly to her own knowledge, not to
Zheng's, of theinferior quality of some of the goodssold at XY Z. The statementsonly corroborated
the other physical evidence tending to show that the counterfeit items were visibly inferior to the
actual items. Since Agent Irwin's testimony regarding Anna’'s statements was not particularly
important to the government’s case, was cumulative to other evidence, and was corroborated by
other evidence, any error in admitting the testimony was harmless.
(©)) Referenceto Terrorism

When describing how consumers are harmed by counterfeit goods, Gillette's trademark
counse! testified about how counterfeit goods hurt consumers generaly:

WEél, [consumers aJre not getting the benefit of their bargain, certainly.

They’ renot buying what they expect to get. They’ re not getting any backup fromthe
company if, in fact, something is problematic with the product. The product has a
likelihood that it’'s a health, safety or an environmental hazard.

In the case of batteries, batteries typicaly that are counterfeited contain
mercury that’s been subsequently added in, which is a health and environmental
hazard. They, also, are not typically made to proper specifications. They are not
vented. They are an explosion hazard typically.

In addition, you're hurt by - - taxes are not being paid by people who are
dedling with counterfeiters; so, your taxes are going to be increasing. Evidenceis
increasing[ly] clear that the source of counterfeits is a money source for organized
crime in terrorism. These ties have been made through - - mostly in the U.S.
Congress through Interpol testimony. So, thereis[sic] alot of reasons why it’s not
avictimless crime,

Zhengimmediately objected at trial onboth hearsay and relevancy grounds. Thedistrict court
overruled the objection, and the prosecutor moved on to another question without further comment.
On appeal, Zheng contends that this terrorism reference, in the current “War on Terror” climate, is

so prejudicial asto requirereversal. Zheng citesno authority in support of hisconclusory contention.

Asthe government notes, and as areview of the transcript proves, nowhere elsein the trial
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did anyone reference terrorism; the government did not referenceit even in closing arguments. The
entirety of this smal portion of the witness's testimony, furthermore, shows that the witness was
listing general reasons why counterfeiting hurts consumers. The witness discussed hedlth, safety,
environmental, and tax reasons before mentioning a possible terrorism connection. At no point did
the witness attempt to connect Zheng specifically with international terrorism or conclude that sales
of Chinese counterfeits in particular aid terrorists. Assuming that the district court abused its
discretion in dlowing the testimony, Zheng fails to show any prejudice from the isolated comment.
D. U.S.S.G. §2B5.3

Since we vacate a conviction that contributed to Zheng's sentence, we necessarily must
remand this case for resentencing. With that fact in mind, it is not strictly necessary for usto review
any other sentencing errors. Nonetheless, to prevent the district court from again erroneously
applying the guidelines on remand, we address Zheng's sentencing arguments as they relate to the
five counts of convictionwe affirm. See United Statesv. Murillo-Lopez, 444 F.3d 337, 339 (5th Cir.
2006) (addressing additional sentencing issues “[i]n theinterest of judicia efficiency and to provide
guidance on remand”).
D Standard of Review

After Booker, just asbefore, thiscourt reviews de novo the district court’ sinterpretation and
application of the Sentencing Guidelines. United Sates v. Villegas, 404 F.3d 355, 359 (5th Cir.
2005). Thedistrict court’ sfactual findings are reviewed for clear error. Gonzales, 436 F.3d at 584.
“A factual finding isnot clearly erroneous aslong asit isplausible in light of the record asawhole.”
Id. (internal quotation omitted).

2 I nfringement Amount

-16-



U.S.S.G. §2B5.3(b)(1) requiresthedistrict court to increase adefendant’ sbase offenselevel
pursuant to the “infringement amount.”*?> The infringement amount is the retail value of the
infringing item (i.e., the sae price of the counterfeit item itself), except in certain enumerated
stuationsthat cal for using theretail value of theinfringed item (i.e., the sale price of the legitimate
itemwhose salesthe counterfeit item seeksto usurp). See U.S.S.G. § 2B5.3 cmt. n.2(A), (B). Here,
the retall value of the infringed item could be used if:

() Theinfringingitem. . .is, or appears to areasonably informed purchaser to be,
identical or substantialy equivalent to the infringed item . . . .

(if) Theretail price of the infringing itemisnot lessthan 75% of the retail price of the
infringed item.

(i) The retail vaue of the infringing item is difficult or impossible to determine
without unduly complicating or prolonging the sentencing proceeding.

(v) Theretail vdue of the infringed item provides a more accurate assessment of the
pecuniary harmto the copyright or trademark owner than doesthe retail value of the
infringing item.

U.S.S.G. §2B5.3 cmt. n.2(A).

Incalculating Zheng' ssentence, thedistrict court applied theretail value of theinfringed items
astheinfringement amount. Though thedistrict court did not specifically identify which commentary
subsection it believed supported using the infringed item value, areview of the transcript leads usto
believe that the district court drew its rationale from the final enumerated situation, when the

infringed item value provides a more accurate assessment of the trademark owner’ s pecuniary harm.

At trid, believing that the value of the infringed item was the proper amount in need of

2The district court properly used the 2003 version of the guidelines.
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determination, the district court prohibited Zheng from cross-examining Agent Palesting, the
government’s pricing speciaist, on the retail value of the counterfeit goods. Further, for purposes

of asupplemental finding, the district court instructed the jury that the “‘infringement amount’ isthe
retail value of the infringed item.” At sentencing, after Zheng's counsel again objected, the district
court concluded that the value of the infringed items should be used: “So the point isnot one of real
vaue...asmuchasit isalook to seewhat the mark isworth whenit’s placed on an item that might
be totally worthless. . . . [S]omething worthless becomes worth something at the point that the
reputation of someone else is attached to it.”

No prior decision from this or, to our knowledge, any other circuit addresses a Situation in
which the district court uses the “pecuniary harm” guideline commentary, over a defendant’s
objection, to justify using theretail value of theinfringed items. Nonethel ess, the government places
strong emphasis on this court’ s decision in United States v. Kim, 963 F.2d 65 (5th Cir. 1992). Kim
involved the 1990 version of § 2B5.3' s predecessor, § 2B5.4, which required the district court to use
the “retail value of the infringing items’ (there, fake Gucci, Louis Vitton, and Rolex items). The
district court erroneously concluded that theterm“infringing items’ meant the brand-nameitems, not
the counterfeit items. Id. at 68. This court noted the error, holding that “infringing items’
unambiguoudly referred to the counterfeit items. |d. However, this court concluded that the district
court did not clearly err by using the infringed item value as an estimate of the infringing item value.
Id. at 66, 69.

Asopposed to the facts of Kim, the district court heredid not use theinfringed item value as

an estimate of the infringing item value; rather, the district court explicitly determined that the

infringed item vaue was the proper oneto use for purposes of guideline calculations. Additionaly,
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the Kim court focused on the fact that the defendant “made no attempt to submit evidence of the
retail value of the infringing items,” and, therefore, no other record evidence gave the value of the
infringingitem. 1d. at 68. Zheng, however, clearly attempted to put theinfringing items' retail values
before the jury, but was prevented from doing so by the district court. Therefore, Kim smply does
not support the government’ s position, nor the district court’s decision.

The lack of record evidence on pecuniary harm to the victim companies weighs against the
district court’s decision to use the infringed item value. The statute under which Zheng was
convicted permitsthe victim companiesto submit victimimpact statementsto identify “the extent and
scope of the injury and loss suffered by the victim, including the estimated economic impact of the
offenseonthat victim.” 18 U.S.C. § 2320(d)(1). However, as Zheng noted at sentencing, thevictim
companies faled to respond to the probation officer’s request for victim impact statements.
Additionaly, though the jury made a supplemental finding that Zheng' s offenses*involve substantial
harm to the reputation of the copyright or trademark owners,” the district court apparently did not
take this supplemental finding into consideration in deciding to use the infringed item value; indeed,
the district court expressy denied a government-requested upward departure based on the
supplemental finding, implicitly sgnaling that the pecuniary harmto the victims, like thereputational
harm, was insubstantial.*® In sum, it isnot at all clear on which record evidence, if any, the district
court based its assessment that the infringed item value provides a more accurate assessment of the
pecuniary harm to the trademark owners.

The other enumerated stuations permitting use of theinfringed item value would not support

the enhancement based on the record evidence. See U.S.S.G. § 2B5.3 cmt. n.2(A). As detailed

3USSG § 2B5.3 cmt. n.5(A) permits an upward departure for the reasons found by the jury.
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above, one enumerated situation is when the infringed and infringing items appear virtualy
indistinguishable to a reasonably informed purchaser. The government’s own evidence, however,
shows that not to be the case for, at least, the batteries, and the Spider-Man phones and figures.*
Another enumerated situation is when the retail value of the infringing item is not less than 75% of
theretail value of theinfringed item. However, the limited testimony that the district court permitted
shows that this provision is inapplicable for, at least, the batteries, the flashlights with the batteries,
and the extension cords, al of which sold for between sixty-five cents and $1.25. Had the district
court permitted Zheng to cross-examine Agents Irwin or Palestina on the value of the infringing
items, it islikely that the other itemswould have been shownto have smilarly low retail values, XY Z,
ater all, isadiscount retail store. The only other possibly applicable enumerated Stuation is when
the retail value of the infringing item is difficult or impossible to determine. However, as just
mentioned, the retail values of many of the infringing items were not only known to the government
but presented at trid. Theretail value of the remaining infringing items could have been discovered
readily by the probation officer developing the PSR, or Zheng could have presented such evidence
at sentencing with the district court’ sindulgence, since those items mainly were for sale at Zheng's
store prior to his arrest.

Ultimately, this court is left with a situation in which the district court found that the retail
value of the infringed item provided a more accurate assessment of the pecuniary harm to the

trademark owners, but apparently did not base its finding on any factsin the record. Therefore, the

“The batteries included with the flashlight were “damaged, leaking or crushed.” The “C” Dinacell
batteries had a “doppily made’ power-checking feature. Marvel does not make or license Spider-
Man phones. For the Spider-Man figures, the packaging was deficient and “[t]he colorsaren’t in the
right place. Theshapeisbad. Thequality isvery paoor. . .. [T]hiswould come apart quite easily and
perhaps not be safe.”

-20-



district court’s factual finding is implausible in light of the entire record and is clearly erroneous.
Accordingly, we vacate Zheng's sentence and remand to the district court for resentencing. See
Gonzales, 436 F.3d at 584.
(©)) Risk of Bodily Harm

We decline to reach the question of whether the district court erred in enhancing Zheng's
sentence based on afinding, pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2B5.3(b)(4), that the counterfeit goodsinvolved
“the conscious or recklessrisk of seriousbodily injury.” Inlight of Zheng'sargument on appeal, we
merely note that, should the district court, on remand, choose again to apply the enhancement, it
should clarify the basis of the decision.

[11. CONCLUSION

We AFFIRM Zheng's convictions as to five counts of trafficking in counterfeit goods. We
VACATE his conviction for trafficking in counterfeit Nike sandals. We further VACATE his
sentence and REMAND for resentencing, both in light of the vacatur of one count of convictionand

the district court’s error in interpreting and applying U.S.S.G. § 2B5.3(b)(1).
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